**Public Document Pack** 

# Planning Policy & Built Heritage Working Party



Please contact: Linda Yarham

Please email: linda.yarham@north-norfolk.gov.uk Please Direct Dial on: 01263 516019

3 September 2020

A meeting of the **Planning Policy & Built Heritage Working Party** of North Norfolk District Council will be held remotely via Zoom on **Monday, 14 September 2020** at **10.00 am.** 

At the discretion of the Chairman, a short break will be taken after the meeting has been running for approximately one and a half hours.

Members of the public who wish to ask a question or speak on an agenda item are requested to notify Democratic Services no later than 5pm on the Thursday before the meeting and provide a copy of the question or statement. An email invitation will be sent to you. Statements should not exceed three minutes. Email: <u>democraticservices@north-norfolk.gov.uk</u>

The meeting will be broadcast live to Youtube and will be capable of repeated viewing. The entirety of the meeting will be filmed except for confidential or exempt items. If you attend the meeting and make a representation you will be deemed to have consented to being filmed and that the images and sound recordings could be used for webcasting/training purposes.

#### Emma Denny Democratic Services Manager

**To:** Mr A Brown, Mrs P Grove-Jones, Mr T Adams, Mr D Baker, Mr N Dixon, Mr P Fisher, Ms V Gay, Mr P Heinrich, Mr J Punchard and Dr C Stockton

Substitutes: Mrs A Fitch-Tillett, Mrs W Fredericks, Mr A Varley

All other Members of the Council for information. Members of the Management Team, appropriate Officers, Press and Public



#### If you have any special requirements in order to attend this meeting, please let us know in advance If you would like any document in large print, audio, Braille, alternative format or in

a different language please contact us

Chief Executive: Steve Blatch Tel 01263 513811 Fax 01263 515042 Minicom 01263 516005 Email districtcouncil@north-norfolk.gov.uk Web site www.north-norfolk.gov.uk

#### 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

#### 2. PUBLIC QUESTIONS

#### 3. MINUTES

To approve as a correct record the Minutes of a meeting of the Working Party held on 17 August 2020.

#### 4. ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS

To determine any other items of business which the Chairman decides should be considered as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

#### 5. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Members are asked at this stage to declare any interests that they may have in any of the following items on the agenda. The Code of Conduct for Members requires that declarations include the nature of the interest and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest.

#### 6. UPDATE ON MATTERS FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING (IF ANY)

#### 7. LOCAL PLAN DRAFT POLICY HOU2 - HOUSING MIX, TYPES, AND (Pages 9 - 52) TENURES

Summary: This report considers the representations made at Regulation 18 stage of plan preparation and seeks to agree a final policy approach to the provision of the right mix of dwellings in terms of size, affordability and tenure.

## Recommendations: 1. That Working Party recommends the revised Policy approaches in Appendix 2 to Cabinet.

2. That the Working Party recommends to Cabinet that the Local Plan does not include a policy in relation to second home occupation.

Cabinet Member(s)	Ward(s) affected				
All Members	All Wards				
Contact Officer, telephone number and email:					
Mark Ashwell Planning Policy Manager 01263 516325, Mark.ashwell@north-norfolk.gov.uk					

(Pages 1 - 8)

#### 8. PLANNING REFORMS GOVERNMENT CONSULTATION

An oral presentation will be given, followed by discussion.

#### 9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS AT THE DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN AND AS PREVIOUSLY DETERMINED UNDER ITEM 4 ABOVE

#### 10. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

To pass the following resolution (if necessary):

"That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A (as amended) to the Act."

#### 11. TO CONSIDER ANY EXEMPT MATTERS ARISING FROM CONSIDERATION OF THE PUBLIC BUSINESS OF THE AGENDA

#### 12. ANY OTHER URGENT EXEMPT BUSINESS AT THE DISCRETION OF THE CHAIRMAN AND AS PREVIOUSLY DETERMINED UNDER ITEM 4 ABOVE

This page is intentionally left blank

## Agenda Item 3

#### PLANNING POLICY & BUILT HERITAGE WORKING PARTY

Minutes of the meeting of the Planning Policy & Built Heritage Working Party held on Monday, 17 August 2020 remotely via Zoom at 10.00 am

Committee Members Present:	Mr A Brown (Chairman)	Mrs P Grove-Jones (Vice-Chairman)	
	Mr D Baker Mr P Fisher Mr N Pearce	Mr N Dixon Mr P Heinrich Mr J Punchard	
Members also attending:	Mrs W Fredericks (substitute for	or Ms V Gay)	
U	Mr H Blathwayt		
	Mr C Cushing		
	Mrs A Fitch-Tillett		
	Mr R Kershaw		
	Mr J Rest		
	Miss L Shires		
	Mr J Toye		
Officers in Attendance:	Planning Policy Manager, I Democratic Services & Govern	Planning Policy Team Leader and ance Officer (Regulatory)	

#### 17 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Ms V Gay. Councillor Mrs W Fredericks attended the meeting as her substitute.

(A subsequent apology was received from Councillor Dr C Stockton, who had been unable to join the meeting due to a technical issue).

#### 18 MINUTES

The Minutes of a meeting of the Working Party held on 13 July 2020 were approved as a correct record.

#### 19 ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS

The Chairman invited the Planning Policy Manager to present an item of urgent business relating to the Great Ryburgh Neighbourhood Plan. The matter was urgent due to the statutory time scale to issue a Decision Statement.

The Planning Policy Manager reported that the Planning Inspector had now examined the Great Ryburgh Neighbourhood Plan and had determined that it could progress to the referendum stage, subject to a number of modifications. It was now for the Council to consider whether it agreed with the conclusions and issue a decision statement within a statutory time limit of five weeks. Officers were content with the modifications, which would now be discussed with Ryburgh Parish Council. He requested that Cabinet be recommended to give delegated authority to the Planning Policy Manager, in consultation with the Chairman of the Working Party, to progress the matter to the next stage.

The referendum would not take place until 2021 because of the Covid-19 restrictions. However, the Neighbourhood Plan would begin to carry weight as a material consideration in planning decisions once the Decision Statement had been issued.

It was proposed by Councillor A Brown, seconded by Councillor P Heinrich and

#### **RECOMMENDED** unanimously

That the Planning Policy Manager be authorised to progress the Great Ryburgh Neighbourhood Plan to the next stage, in consultation with the Chairman of the Working Party.

Councillor P Fisher was not present for the vote due to technical issues.

#### 20 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.

#### 21 UPDATE ON MATTERS FROM THE PREVIOUS MEETING (IF ANY)

The Chairman reported that the recommendations in respect of Blakeney, which were considered by the Working Party on 13 July, had been referred back to the Working Party by Cabinet to carry out further due diligence on the recommended site. Concerns had been raised by Cabinet regarding access, landscape impact and the nature and density of housing. Some of the allocations at Cromer had been deferred at the July meeting for further information. Reports on these matters, and on allocations at Mundesley which had been deferred at a previous meeting, would be considered by the Working Party at a later date.

At the July meeting, Councillor D Baker, in his capacity as MP, had offered to refer a letter from the Chairman of the Working Party to the relevant Government Minister in respect of the calculation mechanism for the 5 year land supply and housing numbers. The Government had since published a White Paper and Consultation Paper on Planning. The Chairman stated that he had withheld the letter and the Council would instead make its submissions through the consultation process in response to the White Paper.

#### 22 JOINT COASTAL ADAPTATION SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENT (SPD): INITIAL CONSULTATION DOCUMENT

The Planning Policy Manager presented for Members' information a report which set out the background and content of an Initial Consultation Document with the eventual objective of producing a Joint Coastal Adaptation Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The purpose of the initial consultation was to inform the content and scope of the draft Coastal Adaptation SPD.

Councillor Mrs A Fitch-Tillett, Chairman of Coastal Partnership East, stated that she was very proud of the document, which demonstrated the importance of joint working along most of the coast of East Anglia. It was also timely as Coastal Partnership East had been appointed as national lead on coastal adaptation, and she had been appointed national chair. She explained that the document was an update of the Development and Coastal Erosion SPD 2009 and would be more in depth as the knowledge base had increased enormously since then. It was very

important that coastal planning applications took the SPD guidance into account.

The Working Party noted the report.

#### 23 PUBLIC QUESTIONS

Two members of the public presented statements (summarised below) to the Working Party, relating to the proposed allocations at Fakenham which would be considered under the next item.

George Acheson, speaking on behalf of Fakenham Town Council, stated that the Town Council had no objection to proposal DS6 (site F01/B) as it was a natural extension of the already planned "Trinity" site. He declared an interest on behalf of the Town Council as its Trap Lane field formed part of the site. The Town Council maintained its insistence that the road network must be upgraded to support the development.

The Town Council also supported proposal DS7 (site F03) as it was a suitable site bounded by the bypass.

The Town Council supported proposal DS8 (site F10) for low density housing and considered that this was the best use of a site adjacent to the town centre. It did not support local objections which had been raised in respect of this site. The land was not part of a SSSI. The area proposed for housing was currently grazing meadow with an animal crematorium between it and the river, with the remaining part being brownfield industrial land. Houses on the grazing land above the flood plain would be within walking distance of the town centre and would not increase traffic in the town centre. The proposal would improve the pedestrian route and open up pedestrian access from Norwich Road to the town centre, and could also open up pedestrian access to open space areas elsewhere in the town. The Town Council sought assurance that no houses would be built on the flood plain and that open space below the housing site would free up land for employment space which was believed to be needed for the expansion of Kinnerton, a major employer, which had run out of space and may otherwise need to relocate out of Norfolk.

Tim Duffy, on behalf of the landowners of site F10, stated that the proximity of the land to the town centre would allow improved pedestrian and cycle access to the nearby facilities and businesses. The area proposed for the residential element of the site was outside of the flood zone and would be designed to allow for low density housing taking into account the total site area. The area closest to the river was in the flood zone and formed part of the overall site, but was not part of the residential proposal. The right scheme and plan should open up the available green space and enhance pedestrian and cycle access through to other recreational facilities.

The brownfield land adjoining the residential would remain designated for employment and light industrial use until circumstances indicated otherwise.

A traffic management and highways survey had been undertaken using highway authority guidelines and all appropriate measuring and monitoring had been carried out over a period of months.

A full biodiversity and European protected species survey had been carried out by consultants over a period of two years. The consultants had concluded that there would be no negative impacts on the Special Areas of Conservation.

Mr Duffy concluded that the proposal presented a unique opportunity to provide a number of benefits to Fakenham.

#### 24 LOCAL PLAN SITE ALLOCATIONS : WELLS NEXT THE SEA AND FAKENHAM

The Planning Policy Manager presented the report and site assessment booklets relating to proposed allocations for Fakenham and Wells-next-the-Sea. He gave a brief overview of the methodology and decision making framework for the finalisation of site selection in the Local Plan. He outlined the main issues relating to each settlement and recommended sites for inclusion in the Local Plan, ahead of Regulation 19 consultation and subsequent submission.

In addition to the recommendations set out in the documents, the Planning Policy Manager recommended that a caveat be attached to site F02 to require confirmation from the Highway Authority that an acceptable access could be provided.

The Planning Policy Manager emphasised the need for Working Party to identify an alternative preferred site if it did not agree with a recommended site. He recommended that any alternative sites identified by the Working Party be deferred for a detailed report at a later meeting.

The Chairman endorsed the comments of the Planning Policy Manager, both in view of the need to maintain the required housing numbers and the transition arrangements recently announced in a Government White Paper which would speed up the timeline to Regulation 19 to allow the Plan to proceed.

#### <u>Fakenham</u>

Councillor J Punchard, Member for Lancaster South Ward, considered that all the sites, in particular F01/B and F03, presented a good opportunity to extend planned growth for the town and deliver a large proportion of the required housing for the District. There were some concerns regarding F10 but he understood a great deal of work had been done with regard to environment and access issues, as outlined by Mr Duffy. Fakenham had regularly delivered sites of 30-50 houses over the last 10-15 years as it was viable for developers to do so, and he therefore considered that it was more likely that F10 would be delivered than the larger "Trinity" site which would take a long time to deliver. F01/B and F03 required a £10,000,000 worth of infrastructure to be provided to the north of the town before the site could be developed and the larger the site could be made, the more affordable the infrastructure would be.

Councillor C Cushing, Member for Lancaster North Ward, endorsed the proposals made and the contributions made by the speakers. He considered that it was important that sites F01/F01A in the current Local Plan and site F01/B were seen as one site when developing plans for the former. It was likely that there would be a sizeable increase in the population of Fakenham and he hoped there would be some consideration to finding employment sites in addition to sites for housing. He referred to plans by Norfolk County Council for a site around Fakenham College which had potential for some social housing, and asked how it tied in to the Local Plan.

The Planning Policy Manager explained that the Fakenham College site was designated as an open land area in the existing and new Local Plans. Some of the school buildings and ancillary areas were within the designated residential area and

proposals for small scale housing development could come forward without specific allocations being made. The County Council was not in a position to make detailed proposals but opportunities existed through current policies and would continue to do so. It was intended to retain the sense of openness at the frontage of the site through designations in the Plan and associated policies.

Councillor J Rest, Member for Lancaster South, supported the previous comments. He appreciated that Fakenham was primed for development and had sufficient land to allow it to take place, but he questioned whether there would be sufficient facilities and other services to support it, such and healthcare and infrastructure.

Councillor N Dixon requested assurance that future climate change would not place any of F10 in the flood plain for the foreseeable future. He requested that the appropriate phasing of employment and infrastructure alongside housing development be included in the Plan.

The Planning Policy Manager stated that the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment had recently been updated. In consideration of this, the residential area of F10 had been reduced in size to avoid development in the flood risk area, taking account of the full impacts of future climate change.

The Planning Policy Manager stated that the current proposals for the Trinity site included in principle the future delivery of a further 5 hectares of employment land provision. Mixed use proposals with employment and other facilities were embedded in the scheme. It would be a matter for Development Committee to consider how the phased delivery of the employment land could be secured. He outlined the current opportunities in Fakenham for employment development. He considered that the overall plan for Fakenham struck a fairly good balance between employment and housing growth. However, significant investment in drainage capacity and highway works were required before the Trinity proposals could come forward. The smaller sites would be easier to deliver and would maintain housing growth in Fakenham whilst the larger schemes were comprehensively planned and brought forward.

The Planning Policy Manager pointed out that the recommendations also included open space designations.

That the following sites are included in the Local Plan, subject to the

It was proposed by Councillor A Brown, seconded by Councillor J Punchard and

#### **RECOMMENDED** unanimously

1.

Highway Authority confirming that safe access can be provided in respect of site F02:						
SiteProposalDescriptionGrossAreaIndicative						

Site Ref	Proposal No.	Description	Gross Area (ha)	Indicative Dwellings
F01/B	DS 6	Land North of Rudham Stile Lane	26.54	560
F02		Land adjacent Shell petrol station	2.4	72
F03	DS 7	Land at Junction of A148 & B1146	2.16	65
F10	DS 8	Land South of Barons Close	4.11	35-55

- 2. The final policy wording is delegated to the Planning Policy Manager.
- 3. That all other sites are discounted <u>at this stage</u>.

### 4. That the green open space designations shown on the site assessment maps are agreed.

#### Wells-next-the-Sea

Councillor P Fisher, Member for Wells with Holkham, stated that W01/1 was well supported, although W07/1 was less so. However, the Town Council was content with both sites. He considered that the main problem would be ensuring there was enough affordable housing.

The Chairman stated that Wells was in Zone 2 for affordable housing and therefore sites over 6 dwellings were expected to deliver 35% affordable housing. It was uncertain as to what impact the reform of the planning system would have on the delivery of affordable housing over the course of the Plan.

Councillor D Baker considered that it was difficult to get affordable housing built in Wells and it was good to see that 28 were proposed through the Plan. He asked how the Council could ensure that developers built the quantity of affordable housing that was required.

The Planning Policy Manager stated that the policies were often seen as a starting point for negotiation regarding viability. The Plan had been subject to a viability assessment and Officers were confident that a requirement of 35% would be deliverable and unforeseen development costs had been identified. The allocated site in the current Plan had delivered the required number of affordable dwellings. A paper would be brought to the Working Party at a future meeting regarding housing mix and tenure. He explained that it would not be possible to restrict affordable dwellings on allocated sites to local lettings dwellings, which were normally delivered through exceptions schemes. Affordable dwellings on allocated sites were for general needs affordable housing.

Councillor P Heinrich asked if W07 would be at risk in a storm surge.

The Planning Policy Manager stated that only a very small area of the site was in the flood risk area. The site was elevated and high above the flood risk area.

It was proposed by Councillor A Brown, seconded by Councillor P Grove-Jones and

#### **RECOMMENDED** unanimously

Site Ref	Description	Gross Area (ha)	Indicative Dwellings	Affordable dwellings
W01/1	Land at Market Lane	0.78	20	7
W07/1	Land Adjacent Holkham Road	2.69	60	21

#### 1. That the following sites are included in the Local Plan:

#### 2. The final policy wording is delegated to the Planning Policy Manager.

- 3. That all other sites are discounted <u>at this stage</u>.
- 4. That the green open space designations shown on the site assessment

#### maps are agreed.

(Councillor D Baker had left the meeting and did not vote)

The Chairman thanked the Planning Policy Manager, Planning Policy Team Leader and the Planning Policy Team for their work in producing the booklets, and thanked the Planning Policy Manager for his input at the meeting.

The meeting ended at 11.40 am.

Chairman

This page is intentionally left blank

#### Local Plan Draft Policy HOU2 – Housing Mix, Types, and Tenures

Summary: This report considers the representations made at Regulation 18 stage of plan preparation and seeks to agree a final policy approach to the provision of the right mix of dwellings in terms of size, affordability and tenure.

#### Recommendations: **1. That Working Party recommends the revised Policy** approaches in Appendix 2 to Cabinet.

## 2. That the Working Party recommends to Cabinet that the Local Plan does not include a policy in relation to second home occupation.

Cabinet Member(s)	Ward(s) affected	
All Members	All Wards	
Contact Officer, telephone number and email:		
Mark Ashwell Planning Policy Manager 01263 516325, Mark.ashwell@north- norfolk.gov.uk		

#### 1. Introduction and Purpose

- 1.1 The emerging North Norfolk Local Plan has been subject to public consultation at Regulation 18 stage during May and June 2019. This report is one of a number of reports that seeks to finalise the draft Local Plan policies. At the end of the process a revised version of the Plan incorporating justified modifications will be produced for the authority in order to consult at Regulation 19 Draft Plan publication stage ahead of subsequent submission for examination. At that stage the Plan will be subject to consideration by an independent inspector against a number of legal and soundness tests to determine if it is <u>legally compliant</u>, justified, effective, and has been positively prepared. A binding report will be produced which will determine if the Draft Plan is sound, with or without further modifications, following which the Plan can be formally adopted by the Council.
- 1.2 This report focusses on controls over the types of new dwellings built in terms of their affordability and tenure, size, and potential occupancy controls. It considers the Reg 18 representations and recommends appropriate modifications to the Draft Plan for inclusion in the submission version.
- 1.3 These issues are addressed in Policy HOU2 of the Draft Plan which is one of a number of policies dealing with *types* of homes including SD2 which allows for a range of community led developments including the delivery of homes via Community Land Trusts, Neighbourhood Plans, and locally supported planning applications, HOU3 which deals with rural exceptions affordable housing, and HOU4 and 5 which cover agricultural worker dwellings and gypsy provision. The report does not address the overall quantity of homes which will be subject to a later report.

#### 2. Background Evidence and update

- 2.1 As well as ensuring sufficient homes are built to accommodate future needs, national guidance requires that the homes built are aligned with identified needs in terms of size, affordability, tenure type, and the needs of particular groups in society such as students, the elderly, gypsies and travellers, and so on.
- 2.2 Policy HOU2 of the Draft Plan deals with the approach to the mix of homes to be provided including size, affordability, self- build and specialist accommodation for the elderly. It sets site size thresholds above which specific types of accommodation will be required including affordable homes, smaller market dwellings, self-build properties and specialist accommodation for the elderly. The overarching objective of the policy is to ensure that the types of homes built in the future more closely match what the evidence indicates is likely to be required. The Draft Policy is attached as **Appendix 2**.
- 2.3 A number of evidence documents underpin the draft approach including:
  - A **Strategic Housing Market Assessment** which projects the numbers of different types of homes that are likely to be required. This in turn draws on evidence from the Census, National population and household projections, local income levels, and the Authority's housing waiting lists.
  - The Councils' **Self Build Register** which provides the opportunity for those interested in self-build to register for suitable serviced plots.
  - A **District Wide Viability Assessment** which models how all of the policies in the Draft Plan, including those relating to housing mix, are likely to impact on development viability.
  - A Gypsy and Traveller Needs Assessment.
  - A separate piece of work has been commissioned under the duty to cooperate to look specifically at the future accommodation needs of the elderly. This should report shortly and will inform the final policy wording included in the Plan particularly in relation to defining the precise types of 'specialist elderly/care' provision that will meet the requirements of the policy, for example, assisted living, care and nursing homes, dementia care and so on. The Policy is targeted at meeting specialist accommodation needs and compliments a set of proposed technical construction standards which in part are aimed at ensuring that 'mainstream' housing is suitable for life time occupation (Draft Policy HOU8)
- 2.4 This evidence highlights:
  - A growing number, and proportion, of elderly residents.
  - A need for around 2,000 affordable dwellings.
  - A growing requirement for smaller one, two and three bedroomed homes.
  - Modest expressed demand for self-build.
  - Very limited demand of gypsy and traveller accommodation.
  - That development viability may be adversely impacted if affordable housing requirements are set above 15% in much of the east of the district and 35% in the west. Note that the Viability Assessment will be revisited before submission and the intention is to set affordable housing requirements at the upper end of what is viable.

#### 3. Summary of Representations

- 3.1 Comments made at regulation 18 stage tend to relate to the detailed application of specific policy requirements rather than raise fundamental objections to the general approach.
- 3.2 Comments from the development industry tend to argue for more flexibility and less prescription so that local circumstances, need, and viability can be considered at planning application stage .In contrast, Individuals and Town and Parish Councils generally seek greater control over future house types particularly in relation to affordability and local lettings, controls over second home ownership, and a desire generally to see housing policies giving more priority towards addressing local needs first.
- 3.3 All representations made during the Regulation 18 consultation are attached as
   Appendix 1 which includes officer comments and recommendations for modification to the Plan.

#### 4. Second Home Ownership

- 4.1 The Draft Plan did not include a specific policy in relation to second homes. It indicated that in principle it would be lawful to impose restrictive occupancy conditions on new homes to ensure they were used solely as the main residence of the occupier, indicated that the Council was not minded to impose such restrictions, and invited comments. Very few direct representations were made about this issue, notwithstanding that it is often raised in discussions with Parish Councils, particularly among coastal communities in the west of the District. Only Blakeney, Wells and Sheringham submitted comments indicating their wish to see second home controls in the Plan and a number of individuals also registered their support for such an approach.
- 4.2 The draft Plan explained that second home controls could only be applied to new dwellings and that the number of new dwellings in those parts of the district with high proportions of second homes would be very small in relation to the existing housing stock. Furthermore, a high proportion of new homes built in these areas would be affordable homes and hence would not be available for second home occupation.
- 4.3 Officers remain of the opinion that the imposition of principle residence restrictions on new properties would be an ineffective measure, as it is likely to simply move the demand for second homes from the new to the existing housing stock where no planning controls are possible, thus defeating the objective of such a policy. Neither is there any evidence that restricting the occupation of a small percentage of properties in this way is likely to have any appreciable impact on local property prices which is often cited as a reason for imposing such restrictions.

#### 5. Recommendations:

- 1. That the Working Party recommends the revised Policy approaches in Appendix 2 to Cabinet.
- 2. That the Working Party recommends to Cabinet that the Local Plan does not include a policy in relation to second home occupation.

#### 6. Legal Implications and Risks

- 6.1 The Council must produce a Local Plan which complies with various regulatory and legal requirements and in determining its policy approaches must be justified and underpinned by evidence, the application of a consistent methodology and take account of public feedback.
- 6.2 The statutory process requires records of consultation feedback and demonstration of how this has/will have informed plan making with further commentary demonstrating how the representation at regulation 18 have been taken into account in line with Regulation 22.
- 6.3 By applying a consistent methodology base around service provision, irrespective of critical constraints, there is a risk that settlement boundaries in all of the settlements may not be identified and that growth may not come forward. This is mitigated by the proposed approach which identifies settlements based on services but then does not reply on a requirement coming forward in the settlements where in the main, environmental constraints could significantly restrict growth as detailed in table 1.
- 6.4 The approach delivers on SD3 commitments but allows a degree of flexibility and competition, although less certainty then allocations it still allows for exception site development and growth for local homes in respect of identified local need. The policy wording, is designed to be more <u>specific over</u> the location of sites in relation to a settlement boundary than that used in the rural exception policy and the approach no longer seeks to limit settlement size through exception growth but link such growth to that of community need.

#### 7 Financial Implications and Risks

7.1 Failure to undertake plan preparation in accordance with the regulations and NPPF is likely to render the plan 'unsound' at examination and result in the need to return to earlier stages. Substantial additional costs would be incurred.

#### Appendix

Appendix 1 – Schedule of Representations and Recommendations

Appendix 2 – Regulation 18 consultation draft of Policy HOU2

#### Officer Comment/Recommendation Parish Comment Representation Type General Policy needs to be firmed up to ensure that affordable homes are maintained in Noted: Affordable housing by definition is required to Cromer Comments perpetuity. Community led housing is supported. remain at an affordable price for future eligible households. STC would like to see an agreed percentage of houses in all new large-scale **Not Agreed**. Such restrictions are unlikely to be affective Sheringham General developments reserved for permanent occupancy Comments (see report) There is a lack of allocation for social care provision within the local plan. With an **Disagree**. The Council aims to ensure that a proportion Cromer General Comments aging population, the provision of adequate health and social care is increasingly of all new homes built are suitable and easily adaptable important for occupation by the elderly and infirm through Policy Page HOU8 and makes specific provision for those that require specialist care through Policy HOU2. North Walsham There is no mention in the draft of social housing. Given the long waiting list for Partly Agree: Policy HOU2 details the affordable Object such housing at present the Town Council strongly believes that up to 30% of housing requirements. It allows for the provision of all ω housing be affordable. At least 50% of this must be Social Housing (15% of total types of affordable homes including social housing via housing) to help alleviate the current and future waiting lists. The Town Council footnote 1 included in the policy. However it is agreed the policy lacks clarity. believes that Social Housing should be distributed throughout the developments and not congregated in a single area Rec Members to be updated at the meeting following further discussion with Housing Enabling Team Sheringham Support STC agrees with the proposals outlined in the Plan and believes the greater demand **Partly Agree**: Policy HOU2 details the affordable for affordable housing is from prospective renters/purchasers for 2 or 3 bedroomed housing requirements. It allows for the provision of all types of affordable homes including social housing via dwellings but particularly for rented properties and accordingly this is what developers would be encouraged to build. This is not included in the plan and STC footnote 1 included in the policy. believe this is essential and reflects the views of our community Rec Members to be updated at the meeting following further discussion with Housing Enabling Team

#### **Representations from Town and Parish Councils**

Extract of Report of Representations

Wells	Support	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> The Council wishes to draw attention to the importance of a good quality of services and facilities for residents of the town, the importance of school provision, health care and emergency services and of housing for their providers and asks that they be explicitly included in the considerations of the District Council.	<b>Partial support noted</b> . The Council has used current evidence base and engaged with relevant bodies including health and education bodies to identify where additional social infrastructure may be required as a result of new development. The Council welcomes the recognition that towns should grow sustainably and the
		Sustainable Development . The Council wishes the town to be developed sustainably with a healthy demographic balance for future generations in accordance with government guidelines (NPPF).	support for the policy approach which addresses the need for small scale family homes, sets the viable affordable home percentage and requires specialist elderly accommodation on larger scale sites.
		The Council endorses the encouragement of Community Land Trusts (Homes for Wells) and Neighbourhood Plans. (LP 7.12). The Council wishes local plan policies explicitly to include provision for families, for local people as well as the elderly,	It is <b>not agreed</b> that second home occupancy restrictions would be an effective measure for the
		those unable to live at home and those working in the town. (LP 9.24-30) Housing The Local Plan states its purpose as ensuring that sufficient homes of the right type are built in the right place and at the right times to meet all of the accommodation	reasons outlined in the report.
0 4 4		needs of the town as identified in the most up-to-date evidence. (LP 9.1) It states that affordable homes need to be genuinely affordable to those with lower incomes	
		but recognises that rented accommodation will be the main form of affordable tenure. Given the topography of the town, any building would have to be on the edge of the built area. The Council supports the proposal that a 'significant	
		proportion' of new homes shall be affordable and not be available for second home use (LP 9.5). The Council supports the idea of second homes' occupancy restrictions in order to make possible the buying of property by locals. The Council is of the view	
		that in order for the town to function effectively as a strong and vibrant community those who need to live reasonably close include not only teachers, medical and care	
		staff and those who man emergency services but also those who provide for the needs of tourists as well as residents' needs	

Appendix 1 –Schedule of Representations and Recommendations Extract of Report of Representations References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

### **Representations from Organisations**

Organisation	Representation	Officer Comment/Recommendation
Broads Authority	Affordable Housing – suggest you mention that the Broads Authority defers to/refers to/has regard to policies of NNDC in relation to Affordable Housing. • Figure 6 – please show the Broads Authority Executive Area on this map as we will apply this policy.	<b>Agreed</b> : Consider feedback in the finalisation of this policy. Add appropriate text to supporting justification and amend Map as requested.
NCC	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> The County Council welcomes the importance of delivering affordable homes and it is understood from the District Council Annual Monitoring report 2018 that the target of 300 affordable homes per annum was not met between 2012 and 2018. The emerging Local Plan has as a target of 200 homes per annum, which is around 20% of total planned growth. This is a significantly higher figure than achieved in previous years and as such is welcomed	<b>Support noted</b> . Addressing housing needs, both market and affordable is an important consideration in meeting all identified housing needs across the district and contributing to a balanced and sustainable community
NCC/ Adult social care	The County Council recognises the need to increase housing options for older people and values schemes, which allow an older person's independence to be maintained in the community. The council is especially keen to promote the development of extra care housing, which are independent homes (rented or owned) where residents have a minimum care need (four hours per week) and are also covered by on-site staff for any emergency care need. The County Council also recognises that a proportion of these units need to be affordable – covering both rent and shared ownership – in order for the needs of all of the local population to be met. 10.2. The County Council have recognised that there is a need for 486 units of extra care in North Norfolk, which have a minimum site requirement of 60 units per site, with sites being 2-3 acres with ample communal space both inside and out. Attached (Appendix 3b) is a (draft) planning position statement and a general position statement for extra care in Norfolk (Appendix 3a). The County Council also recognises a need for care homes to be considered in line with new developments, particularly the provision of nursing homes, in line with older people's population growth. It is also expected that these will have similar unit and size requirements as extra care, although sites could start at 1.5 acres if required. 10.3. The County Council's Adult Social Care team would like to meet with NNDC Planners to discuss the above issues and how best these could be identified in the emerging Local Pan	<b>Noted. Support welcomed</b> . Further evidence included in the June 2019 position statement on developing extra care housing in Norfolk is welcomed and will be used to help finalise and support the policy approach.

Extract of Report of Representations

Gladman Devleopments (Barnes, Mr Craig)	Policy HOU2 sets the housing mix requirements of the Policy. The Policy sets out the requirements for affordable housing, housing mix, affordable housing mix, self-build requirement and specialist elderly/care provision requirements for each site according to the scale of the development. <b>Gladman broadly agrees that the evidence is in place to justify the requirements set for affordable housing and housing mix</b> . The requirements should however be reviewed should the updated SHMA suggest the need for a different housing mix, and the policy should be applied flexibly to account for site/development specific issues or changing needs over time. A scaled approach recognises the differences in viability and opportunity to accommodate a range of housing products within a development. Its application is therefore important to enhance the deliverability of development in the plan period. Gladman also support the proposal to establish different zones for affordable housing requirements of the District. This recognises that values vary across the authority area and as such affects the financial capacity of development to viably accommodate required levels of affordable housing. Gladman is however concerned with the requirements set out within the policy for self-build plots and specialist elderly/care provision. For Self-build, the Policy advises that at least one plot or 2% of total units on sites of 26 to 300 dwellings will be required as self-build plots, with an additional plot or 2% provided per additional 150 dwellings. Gladman is concerned that the policy requirement will deliver an <b>oversupply (89) of self-build when compared to need.</b> The latest register shows a total of 9 individuals on the register with a need for self-build plot. The register also shows the preferred location of the plot provided. This significantly outstrips demand for self-build in the District and excludes the potential for additional contributions from windfall development. Not considered that the requirements of the Policy are justified	The general support for much of the Policy is noted and welcomed. With respect to self-build requirements it is not agreed that the requirement exceeds the evidence of likely need. The self-build register is not likely to represent the true demand for self-build opportunities, the policy requirement of 2% self-build on larger schemes of 26 units and above is modest. It is agreed that the supporting reasoned justification should indicate how such plots are to be provided and marketed for agreed periods of time. It is not agreed that self-build should enjoy an exemption from countryside policies. It is important that self-build development is as sustainably located as all other types of housing development It is also agreed that the term 'Specialist Elderly Care' requires further definition. This will be informed by the Elderly Persons Accommodation Needs study currently being prepared <b>Recommendation: Amend the supporting text of the</b> <b>policy in relation to self-build</b> Include a specific definition of Specialist Elderly Care to include those types of units/accommodation required by the evidence.
---	--	---

Extract of Report of Representations

References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

process. Further detail is necessary to set out how this policy is to be implemented to ensure that it is effective in securing self-build plots. In terms of the requirements of Policy HOU2 for elderly provision, Gladman accept the pressing need for elderly accommodation within the District, however consider that the Policy should hold greater flexibility in requiring such provision on-site. It may not always be the case, owing to the location/characteristics of the site and proposed development that the site would be a suitable location for elderly/specialist provision. The policy is also imprecise about the types of elderly/specialist provision that can be provided in response to its requirements referring only to the dwellings needed as "bedspaces". Whilst this provides welcomed flexibility, it also introduces uncertainty for applicants should the type of dwellings provided not reflect the Council's expectations. Proposed Changes: Gladman consider that the following two approaches should be taken: Firstly, the Council should seek to allocate small sites (in agreement with the landowner) which are entirely comprised of self-build plots. This would avoid the potential problems of disposal of selfbuild sites by the housebuilders. It would also overcome potential concerns regarding health and safety as well as site security by avoiding the need to accommodate self-build plots within a larger scale development. Gladman consider that it would be helpful for the types of elderly/specialist provision desired to be listed by the Council. This list should be expansive and not focused on traditional C2 accommodation (because the evidence doesn't support this) but should also include modern types of elderly/specialist provision such as flats to purchase and rent, and communal living accommodation. Secondly, the Council should seek to encourage self-build through windfall development by relaxing its open countryside policy where the development of a self-build plot would not lead to adverse effects on biodiversity, landscape, heritage, and flood risk. This may encourage self-build proposals on an ad hoc basis fulfilling needs which cannot be met through the Local Plan especially within rural areas. The approach would also increase the level of windfall development achieved during the plan period.

Extract of Report of Representations

Creeting and Coast (Fairlie, Mr John) 1217415	Paragraph 63 of the NPPF states: Provision of affordable housing should not be sought for residential developments that are not major developments, other than in designated rural areas (where policies may set out a lower threshold of 5 units or fewer). Page 68 of the NPPF defines Major Development as: For housing, development where 10 or more homes will be provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more. The affordable housing provision should therefore be zero for sites of less than 10 units.	Agreed - Rec Amend the policy to make clear that lower site size thresholds will only apply in Designated Rural Areas
Fennell, Mr David (Homes for Wells	OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: ( Support with	<b>Comments Noted.</b> Policy HOU2 sets out the affordability requirement of 35%. Development in flood risk areas is subject to the sequential approach and exception tests as set out in national policy where those areas least at risk are prioritised. Second homes occupancy restriction are unlikely to be effective for the reasons outlined in the report. The Council is actively supporting the provision of rural exception sites and affordable housing provision through grant funding and working with local communities in the identification of and delivery of sites to address local need. Such sites can also be brought forward through the emerging neighbourhood plan. The use of a second home is not defined in planning legislation, the occupation of residential dwellings is not a matter of land use planning and there are no planning controls that can be utilised to control the use of the existing housing stock as second homes. The approach through national guidance is one where an uplift is applied to the overall housing target to account for those homes lost through second homes ownership. Wells is preparing a neighbourhood plan and the Council is supportive of communities utilising these planning powers where there is an opportunity to bring forward additional growth in response to local issues and evidence.

Extract of Report of Representations

References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

terms of access on foot or bicycle to the town centre, limiting damage to wildlife and the natural environment and avoiding intrusion into the landscape. As to the impacts of second home ownership, the first is that parts of Wells are increasingly becoming 'dark' out of season; people no longer have neighbours, businesses no longer have customers, school numbers fall, family members move away to find work or affordable homes and the permanent population falls. The second is that, in high season, the isolated residents are disturbed at all hours of the day and night by strangers driving in and out; nobody knows who their neighbours are; in daytime, the roads gridlock and all available parking is taken; in short, the income and employment gained from tourism has to be smoothed out over the year. Providing more second homes for holiday lets in peak season does not smooth out the pressure - it adds to it - and it undermines the community and its services outside peak season

Page 19

Extract of Report of Representations

EJW Planning Ltd Whettingsteel, Mrs Erica (Fleur Developments Limited)	Support the principle of introducing a sliding scale for affordable provision. However, the figures set out in the table do not allow sufficient flexibility to meet local needs. it is appropriate in North Norfolk that affordable housing targets allow for greater flexibility in respect of the scale of development proposed and affordable housing contributions sought on the basis of a sliding scale however, the figures set out in the table do not allow of sufficient flexibility to suit local needs	<b>Support (partial) welcomed:</b> The Council aims to ensure that the dwellings built reflect the identified need. The aim of Policy HOU2 is to closely match the type of homes, which are built with the identified need for homes of different sizes and tenures. The policy indicates that tenures will be determined on a case by case basis to match local need and provide for an appropriate degree of flexibility. However some further clarity in relation to permissible affordable tenures is desirable.
τ		Rec To be made at the meeting following further discussion with Housing enabling
Savills, Voyias Ms Lydia (Holkham Estate)	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: The Holkham Estate is</b> <b>supportive of the 'Build to Rent' concept. T</b> he Planning Practice Guidance states: "As part of their plan making process, local planning authorities should use a local housing need assessment to take into account the need for a range of housing types and tenures in their area including provisions for those who wish to rent. Specific demographic data is available on open data communities which can be used to inform this process. The assessment will enable an evidence-based planning judgement to be made about the need for build to rent homes in the area, and how it can meet the housing needs of different demographic and social groups. If a need is identified, authorities should include a plan policy setting out their approach to promoting and accommodating build to rent."Paragraph: 001 Reference ID: 60-001-20180913 (Revision Date: 13 09 2018). The North Norfolk District Council Strategic Housing Market Assessment (June 2017) provides commentary about the private rented sector (PRS) across Central Norfolk over the period 2001 to 2011 at pages 86 and 87. It is stated at paragraph 4.57 that "The rate of increase in the PRS is revealing: over the period 2001-11, the PRS sector in Central Norfolk has grown by 45%". It is stated at paragraph 4.58 that "It is important to recognise that the private rented sector in Central Norfolk is growing via the conversion of other tenures rather than new build." The SHMA indicates that there may be a need to accommodate additional growth to specifically respond to the growth of private rented sector. Unfortunately there is no analysis of the Private Rented Sector within the North Norfolk District in isolation. The Draft North Norfolk District Council Draft Local Plan is silent in	The Council supports the provision of rented accommodation in meeting the identified need for both market and affordable housing. A high proportion of affordable rent is included in the plan wide viability testing. Recommendation: Add specific reference to the supporting text of the policy acknowledging the contribution that build to rent can make.

Extract of Report of Representations

	respect of 'Build to Rent'. Build to rent is defined within the National Planning Policy Framework (Glossary) "Purpose built housing that is typically 100% rented out. It can form part of a wider multi-tenure development comprising either flats or houses, but should be on the same site and/or contiguous with the main development. Schemes will usually offer longer tenancy agreements of three years or more, and will typically be professionally managed stock in single ownership and management control." The concept of 'Build to Rent' is different to traditional development schemes where houses are built for sale. This sector of housing can play a role in accelerating delivery where there is a particular need for rental properties	
Wells Neighbourhood Plan, Questionnaire. ( Mr Peter Rainsford)	Respondents to the questionnaire, ( clarification added, Wells NP survey) counted 125 first preferences for affordable housing for rent by local people, 89 second preferences and 24 third preferences. By contrast houses for sale on the open market attracted 14 first preferences, 9 second preferences and 5 third preferences. The survey response reflects concerns about the very limited amount of land available for affordable rental accommodation. This could be resolved if all sites are designated "exception sites".	Comments noted. Addressing housing needs, both market and affordable is an important consideration in meeting all identified housing needs across the district and contributing to a balanced and sustainable community. Wells is preparing a neighbourhood plan and the Council is supportive of communities utilising these planning powers to bring forward additional sites to support local affordable housing where they are justified by appropriate evidence.

Appendix 1 –Schedule of Representations and Recommendations Extract of Report of Representations References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

Larkfleet Homes, Dew, Miss Charlotte	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY</b> : Larkfleet object to the stringent nature of policy HOU2 and suggest that there is a greater need for flexibility to ensure development is viable on a site-specific basis and believe housing mix percentages should be addressed on a case by case basis. As an example, the number of required self-build and specialist properties, defined in this policy as a need, should be weighed against the need for affordable homes.	Not agreed. The Council aims to ensure that the dwellings built reflect the identified need. The aim of Policy HOU2 is to closely match the type of homes, which are built with the identified need for homes of different sizes and tenures. The Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) provides information in relation to the number and type of homes required, including their size and tenure. It concludes that there is likely to be high levels of need for two and three bedroom properties and a growing need for single bedroom homes and flats in the affordable sector. Also, meeting the housing needs of an aging population, in terms of the traditional housing stock and specialist types of elderly care will become increasingly important throughout the Plan period.
--	--	---

Page 22

Appendix 1 –Schedule of Representations and Recommendations Extract of Report of Representations References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

Persimmon **OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:** Persimmon Homes Homes (Anglia), (Anglia) request that the discrepancy between the housing mix requirements of HOU2 Saedi, Mr Kian and other relevant policies within the plan are revised so that they align: • HOU2 does not require the provision of specialist elderly/care provision on schemes of Agreed that consistent approach is required. between 26-150 dwellings with the trigger for the provision of this type of Recommend that the policy also includes a site size accommodation being 151 dwellings and up. However, this is inconsistent with Site Policy threshold (hectares) in addition to the number of DS13, which requires the provision of land for elderly accommodation despite the dwellings proposed. allocation including only 150 dwellings, which would not trigger the need to provide Rec . Add a site size threshold in addition to a number elderly accommodation under Policy DS13. of dwellings to Policy HOU2 in relation to elderly care and other requirements. • Persimmon Homes (Anglia) acknowledge the role that self-build housing plays in Partly agreed. The Plan requires self-build within large meeting the needs of groups with specific housing requirements, but consider that selfproposals and would allow for/support self-build in build housing is likely to be more appropriately delivered as part of smaller housing other sustainable locations through Policies SD2 and schemes or housing schemes that are exclusively self-build. Persimmon Homes (Anglia) SD3. More explicit text about the support for self-build therefore suggest that a more appropriate approach would be for the plan to include a can be included within these policies. separate policy, specifically supporting the delivery of self-build housing where it can be demonstrated that self-build housing would be appropriate to its locational and **Rec. Incorporate support for self-build in Policies SD2** developmental context. and SD3. Persimmon Homes (Anglia) consider that the imposition of a requirement to provide a The requirements are set at very low levels (just 2%) certain proportion of self-build plots on larger schemes (26 +) is not necessary or the reflecting the evidence of need. It is agreed that the most appropriate mechanism to meet the demand for self-build and custom supporting text of the policy should explain how such housebuilding in the North Norfolk area, particularly given the most recent self-build plots might be released in the event of no demonstrable registers (2017 & 2018) indicate demand has generally been for single plots in more rural demand for self-build in the area. locations and that the level of demand has been low. Therefore, Persimmon Homes (Anglia) consider that the requirement is likely to result in self-build plots being provided Rec. Add appropriate wording to the supporting text in locations where there is not a demand for self-build plots, which would potentially allowing for the disposal of self-build plots after a result in self-build plots being left empty where they are not sold. Additionally, this could period of two years of continuance agreed marketing. reduce the overall number of houses that could otherwise be delivered on an allocated site by the developer.

Extract of Report of Representations

References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

• Persimmon Homes (Anglia) also echo the recommendations of the HBF in that if the self-build element of the policy is retained it must include a mechanism for the return of self-build plots to the developer where these are unsold. It is important that plots should not be left empty to the detriment of neighbouring dwellings or the development as a whole. The timescale for reversion of these plots to the original housebuilder should be as short as possible because the consequential delay in developing those plots presents further practical difficulties in terms of co-ordinating their development with construction activity on the wider site."

#### Appendix 1 –Schedule of Representations and Recommendations Extract of Report of Representations

Dana	Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd, Hewett, Mr Daniel	<ul> <li>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd consider that the Council should seek to provide a range of housing tenures, in accordance with the most recently published SHMA, and that the precise percentage of housing mix should be dealt with on a case by case basis and be informed by site location.</li> <li>When allocating sites that are controlled by developers or notable house builders, these should be viewed favourably as this would significantly de-risk the site in terms of deliverability.</li> <li>It is considered that, if allocated sites are not coming forward at the anticipated rate of the adopted housing trajectory or if the Council is unable to demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply, this should trigger the delivery of the reserved sites for consideration. This would ensure that the Council are meeting their housing need, whilst also ensuring that housing is coming forward in the most sustainable locations, as this would have been a factor in determining the location of the reserve sites. Mechanisms to avoid a shortfall in housing development and delivery are vital to consider at this stage of the emerging Local Plan.</li> </ul>	Not agreed, site by site negotiations absent a specific policy requirement are likely to prove extremely difficult to implement and risk identified needs not being addressed. Not agreed. National guidance already includes a suitable mechanism for the release of sustainable development sites in the event that no five year land supply is demonstrated.
רכ		Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd object to the prescriptive nature of policy HOU2. Greater flexibility on a site by site basis is required to ensure schemes are viable. For example, the need to provide self build plots and the provision of specialist elderly/care beds in accordance with this policy needs to be weighed against the need to provide the prescribed level of affordable housing. As required by National Planning Policy, we consider that the Council should seek to provide a range of housing tenures, in accordance with the most recently published SHMA, and that the precise percentage of housing mix should be dealt with on a case by case basis and be informed by site location.	<b>Not agreed,</b> The Plan provides for all identified needs and has been viability tested. It should <i>not</i> be the case that one type of provision is weighed against or offset by another – <i>all</i> are required and these requirements should inform site value and viability considerations. Government policy is clear in that the policies of adopted plans are expected to be reflected in land purchase price and as such developers should take account of the policies in developing proposals and negotiating land sales.

Extract of Report of Representations

Tetlow King Planning, Rossiter, Meghan, for Rentplus UK Ltd	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> Rentplus UK Ltd supports the Council's aspiration to deliver more affordable housing across North Norfolk. This should translate to the supporting text and policies supporting the delivery of the full range of affordable routes to home ownership, including rent to buy, such as at para. 9.25. The affordable rent to buy tenure meets needs for affordable rented	<b>Noted:</b> The policy does not prevent the delivery of affordable homes under the Rentplus model or include a specific limiting definition of affordable homes thus allowing for a range of tenure types provided it is shown that these products are affordable and meet a local
	<ul> <li>housing, with the full expectation of purchase. We support the Council in setting a separate minimum target for the delivery of affordable housing over the Plan period through Policy HOU 1. This will assist the Council in monitoring and targeting any actions required to boost delivery, should supply fall below expectations in the future.</li> <li>Rentplus UK Ltd provides affordable rent to buy housing, through a 'rent - save –</li> </ul>	need. However it is agreed that the requirement to deliver 10% low cost ownership with all remaining affordable homes being provided as rented may be too prescriptive and prevent the delivery of other usefully affordable products.
	own' model, renting at an affordable rent, set at the lower of 80% market rate (affordable rent) or LHA and a gifted 10% deposit upon purchase, with options to purchase at years 5, 10, 15 and 20. The main difference to other affordable options is	Rec. Agree a revised affordable housing mix with the housing enabling team and consider if it is desirable to
	that households are able to save for the mortgage deposit while renting the same home. The inclusion of affordable rent to buy provides greater choice and flexibility. The affordable rented period provides security of tenure, with management and maintenance by a local partner Housing Association (HA) and the opportunity to save	include this within the policy. Final rec to be made at the meeting.
	towards purchase. Two supporters of the model are Plymouth City Council and Sedgemoor District Council. • The SHMA is out-dated in assessing affordable housing need in light of the amended	
	definition of affordable housing in the NPPF (2019). It is important for the Council to consider seeking an additional review of local affordability and how these new tenures can help to meet the wide range of local housing needs. As this Plan will be tested	
	<ul> <li>against the new NPPF it is important that the evidence base assesses the need for and potential provision of such housing in order to effectively plan to meet those needs. This differs from the models of low cost home ownership set out in the 2017 SHMA.</li> <li>The Rentplus model offers the opportunity for the Council and local HAs to diversify the housing offer to meet local housing needs without recourse to public subsidy, helping to reduce the housing waiting list and assisting households in other affordable tenures to</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>move on with rent to buy, freeing up those homes for others in need.</li> <li>The Council should consider the opportunities that exception sites may offer in delivering more affordable housing in areas not covered by AONB designation, as part of Policy HOU 2. This may increase the delivery of affordable housing over the plan period without adding to the numbers of open market housing that may need to be delivered. In</li> </ul>	The Plan includes an exceptions policy (HOU3) which allows for exceptions developments across the District.

Appendix 1 –Schedule of Representations and Recommendations Extract of Report of Representations References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

Policy HOU2 the expectation that 'not more than' 10% 'low cost home ownership' housing is to be delivered on major residential developments is inconsistent with the Not agreed. Use of the term 'at least' allows for the NPPF which expects 'at least' 10% affordable home ownership to be delivered. This possibility that all affordable homes would be provided element of the policy should be amended to refer to 'affordable housing for sale, as low cost home ownership. The evidence clearly shows a much greater need for social and affordable including other affordable routes to home ownership' as this would widen the scope of rented properties hence the term 'not more than 10%' the policy to allow for delivery of the full range of ownership options. The percentage cap should also be removed in favour of figures that best reflect local needs, suggested which allows for the delivery of 'at least 10%' as by Footnote 1 of the table. The emphasis on meeting local affordable needs for rented required by the NPPF. accommodation can be met through a combination of social and affordable rent, and affordable rent to buy. We recommend that the Council include reference to rent to buy within the policy. Firs Farm OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: Draft Policy HOU2 sets **Not agreed.** The Policy is evidence based and needs to Partnership out strict requirements for the mix of house sizes and tenures on a development site provide a clear basis for reaching decisions. Site specific Lanpro including in some cases requirements for serviced self-build plots and specialist elderly and local derived evidence at the time of application can care provision. It is considered that this policy is overly prescriptive and there needs to be taken into account when decisions are made. Rejzek, Ms Becky

Extract of Report of Representations

	be the ability to give consideration on an individual site basis as to whether there is an identified need for self-build plots, elderly care in a particular location.	
Duchy of Cornwall Pollock, Mr Nick	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> The landowner supports development at Fakenham. However, alongside this, the Plan should ensure that the needs of the rural areas of the District, such as affordable housing, are considered and adequately met to ensure the fostering of thriving communities. This would support a positively prepared plan that is justified and sound. Supports provision of new housing to meet local need and acknowledges that the housing need figure of 543 per annum is consistent with the national Standard Method. Recognises the need for a mix of housing in new developments to ensure balanced communities are created and maintained, and to ensure needs of all population groups in the District are adequately met. However, the policy should not be overly prescriptive to ensure there is flexibility to respond to the changeable market situation and any changes in the District's demographics over the Plan period. Policy HOU2 should encourage all different routes to affordable housing to ensure those in need have the best access possible to affordable housing. This would also ensure consistency with the updated NPPF which is much broader in defining affordable housing (paragraph 62 and Annex 2). Policy language should be identified as per NPPF paragraph 62, and vacant building credit should also be referenced as per paragraph 63. There is also ambiguity regarding the "agreed dimensions" in table footnote 2 – what are such agreed dimensions and how are they justified? With regard to the different affordable housing zones, NNDC Should ensure this responds to previous affordable housing delivery trends, so that affordable housing is delivered in areas of greatest need. The supporting text of Policy SD3 notes that larger towns have the greatest need for affordable housing, but also have the greatest supply. However, care should be taken to ensure that the affordable housing needs of village and rural communities are not neglected, particularly those with high demand and low land availabi	Support noted. Consider a more flexible requirement in relation to affordable homes to allow for a broader mix of affordable predominantly rented products.

Extract of Report of Representations

	successfully delivered in areas of greatest need to ensure a justified and effective Plan. Sites like F03 (Fakenham) can, of course, help support such delivery in the short term.	
Pigeon Land Ltd. and JM Clifton, JM Clifton, ID Clifton	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> Formulated based on the SHMA and other evidence base documents. It identifies site C10/1 being located within Affordable Zone 2 and cross references tenure mix dependent on the size of scheme. We support the policy and confirm that the Concept Masterplan, which accompanies this submission provides for a scheme that complies with policy HOU2, notably the provision of 35% affordable housing and the requirement for 50% of market homes to be two and three bedrooms. The Council may, however, <b>wish to consider amending the policy to provide flexibility in order to reflect housing needs</b> in the District over the life of the Local Plan. Policy HOU 2 also requires at least one plot or 2% of the total number of units to be provided to be self-build. We support the aspiration to increase the delivery of new homes through the provision of self-build and custom-build housing and Pigeon are involved in a number of schemes that include self-build plots and confirm that these can be provided as part of site C10/1. However, the Council may wish to consider amending the policy to allow any plots that are unsold after a period of time to be brought forward as conventional housing.	Support noted. Consider comments in the development of the policy as above.

Extract of Report of Representations

Home Builders Federation Behrendt, Mr Mark	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> It will be important that the affordable housing policy reflects any updated evidence on viability taking into account all the additional costs resulting from the new local plan. This may require the Council to reduce its requirements in both areas to ensure that the Council can satisfy paragraphs 34 and 57 of the NPPF. We would suggest that the affordable housing	<b>Not Agreed.</b> Affordable housing thresholds and requirements are set at a level supported by the evidence and will ensure that the strategy as a whole is deliverable. The Council accepts that some sites may not be viable.
	requirement in zone 1 does not reflect the Council's evidence. The <b>table at paragraph 5.4</b> suggests that a 15% affordable housing requirement on residential development in the low value submarket will make brownfield land unviable and could have an impact on the delivery of green field sites. In order to ensure compliance with paragraph 57 the evidence indicates that a 10% requirement wold be most appropriate and reduce the need for negotiation in zone 1. Would also support the delivery of brownfield sites in the	
	lower value zone and ensure the Local Plan is consistent with paragraph 117 of the NPPF. The requirement for development from 6 units upwards to contribute to affordable	Agreed.
	housing provision regardless of location is contrary to paragraph 63 of NPPF which states that the lower threshold can only be applied in designated rural areas. Whilst there are parts of North Norfolk that will be designated as a rural area it cannot be applied to the entire borough. The <b>policy should therefore identify the designated rural area to which</b> <b>the lower threshold will be applied. Outside of the designated rural areas contributions</b> <b>should only be applied to major development</b> . Recommendation The Council will <b>need</b> <b>to reconsider its affordable housing requirements against a revised viability assessment</b> that considers the cumulative impact of the policies in the local plan. The policy will also need to be amended to <b>remove the requirement for small sites outside of designated</b> <b>rural areas</b> to pay a contribution towards affordable housing provision.	Rec. Amend the policy to bring it in line with NPPF requirements making clear that site size thresholds of below 10 dwellings will only be applied in Designated Rural Areas. (most of rural North Norfolk)
	Policy HOU2 requires developments of 6 or more units to provide no less than 50% of the market homes as either 2 or 3 bedroomed units. Firstly, the mix of market homes to be provided on each site should be a matter for the developer to consider, who understand the market for new homes and what is needed within the location they are developing. Whilst the Council should seek to ensure a broad mix of housing is provided across the Borough this should be achieved through allocating sites that will achieve this mix. Whilst we do not agree with the imposition of a mix requirements on market housing on any sites it is even more onerous on smaller sites where development viability can be greatly affected by the mix if there is no market for such homes at the location the development	<b>Not agreed.</b> The mix of market homes is determined by the evidence and is not unduly prescriptive

is being delivered. Recommend that the housing mix requirements for market homes in HOU2 are deleted.

HOU2 requires at least 1 plot or 2% of the total number of units provided to be selfbuild. Whilst the HBF is supportive of the **self and custom house building** industry we are concerned that the expectation to deliver such plots is being placed on the house building industry. PPG sets out in paragraph 57-025 a range of approaches that must be considered to support the delivery self-build plots, such as examining whether delivery could be achieved on their own land or if their landowners willing to provide development land specifically to support the self-build market. The Council will need to provide evidence as to the extent they have considered delivery through other mechanisms if this policy is to be found sound. In addition to considering how to deliver plots for self-builder the Council must also provide evidence as to the demand for such **plots.** We are particularly concerned that across the Country the level of need outlined on self-build registers is inflated and does not reflect demand. We have noted that when Councils have revisited their registers in order to confirm whether individuals wish to remain on the register numbers have fallen significantly. This has been the case at the EIP for both the Hart and Runnymede Local Plans. In Runnymede for example more stringent registration requirements were applied in line with national policy and saw the numbers of interested parties on the register fell from 155 to just 3. There are also concerns that self and custom build registers alone do not provide sufficient evidence with paragraph 57-011 of PPG requiring additional data from secondary sources to be considered to better understand the demand for self-build plots. In particular we are concerned that planning policies, such as the ones proposed in the draft local plan, will deliver plots on major house building sites whereas the demand for self-build plots may be for individual plots in more rural locations. Without the necessary evidence to show that there is demand for self-build plots on such sites the policy cannot be either justified or effective. The Council will need to provide further evidence if it wishes to take this policy further. Without the necessary evidence the policy must be deleted. If the policy is retained it must include a mechanism for the return of self-build plots to the developer where these are unsold. It is important that plots should not be left empty to detriment of neighbouring dwellings or the development as a whole. The timescale for reversion of these plots to the original housebuilder should be as short as possible because the consequential delay in developing those plots presents further practical difficulties in terms of co-ordinating their development with construction activity on the wider site.

**Partly agreed**. The Plan requires self-build within large proposals and would allow for/support self-build in other sustainable locations through Policies SD2 and SD3. There is no reason why larger development proposals should be exempt from self-build obligations. More explicit text about the support for self-build can be included within the other policies of the Plan.

### Rec. Incorporate support for self-build in Policies SD2 and SD3.

The requirements are set at very low levels (just 2%) reflecting the evidence of need. It is agreed that the supporting text of the policy should explain how such plots might be released in the event of no demonstrable demand for self-build in the area.

Extract of Report of Representations

References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

National Custom OFFICERS SUMMARY - SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: NaCSBA's mission is to and Self-Build substantially increase the number of people able to build or commission their own home Association and they believe that opportunities should arise for prospective self and custom-builders through the Local Plan process. The Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Bill is an Act of Foxley Tagg Parliament. This Bill seeks to establish a register of prospective custom builders who are Planning Ltd seeking a suitable serviced plot of land and requires LPAs to keep an up to date register Ms Sally Tagg of people within the district that wish to build their own home. NaCSBA are pleased to note that North Norfolk do keep a self-build register and that demand identified through the self-build register is published. It is however a concern that at present one cannot register on the North Norfolk Self-Build Register at http://localselfbuildregister.co.uk . The lack of presence on this website can give the impression that the LPA does not have a self-build register, and may send the wrong message in respect of the Council's commitment to the register and to custom- and self-build. Comments from the Planning Minister alongside the Right to Build legislation clearly demonstrate how the government intended LPAs to respond to the requirements set out in the NPPF when drawing up new Local Plans. LPAs should take a proactive position to providing land and should undertake rigorous and effective evidence gathering to measure custom and self-build need in their districts. And LPAs that do not do so can expect their Local Plans to be found unsound at examination. The Housing and Planning Act 2016 conferred on LPAs the responsibility to: "Give suitable development permission in respect of enough serviced plots of land to meet the demand for self-build and custom house building in the authority's area..." The Act established that evidence of such demand would be provided by registers which LPAs are required to keep in accordance with the 2015 Self-Build and Custom Housebuilding Act. The Housing White Paper entitles 'Fixing Our Broken Housing Market' published in February 2017 stated that: "the Government wants to support the growth of custom built homes. These enable people to choose the design and layout of their home, while a developer finds the site, secures planning permission and builds the property." The paper further went on to acknowledge that: "The main barriers to custom built homes are access to land and finance." Finally, the paper demonstrated the importance with which the Government treats provision of self-build opportunities by councils by stating that: "If we do not believe local authorities are taking sufficient action to promote opportunities for custom-building and self-building, we will consider taking further action including possible changes to legislation." More recently, Housing Minster Kit Malthouse stated in the House of Commons (13th May 2019) that: "Self and custom builders have a vital role to play in delivering new homes that are welcomed in their communities, rather than

**Noted** – The Policy provides for a modest supply of selfbuild opportunities. New self- build proposals would be supported via the Plans wider support for windfall developments provided such proposals were sustainably located.

Extract of Report of Representations

References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

resisted, and built to last." He went on to state that: "Custom and self-build can and should be a mainstream housing option in this country." Paragraph 61 of the revised NPPF sets out the requirement for LPA to plan for a wide choice of high quality homes to support sustainable communities and provide greater opportunities for home ownership. It goes on to state (underlining is our emphasis): "The size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies (including, but not limited to, those who require affordable housing, families with children, older people, students, people with disabilities, service families, travellers, people who rent their homes and people wishing to commission or build their own homes)." Furthermore, the NPPF makes clear how small and medium sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an area. The identification and promotion of small and medium sites as per the NPPF paragraph 61 can be promoted in order to support the needs of custom and self-builders. Critique of policies Whilst the plan does make reference to custom and self-build in Policy HOU 2 – Housing Mix, in the form of a requirement for medium and large sites to deliver 2% of units (or at least 1 plot) as serviced self-build plots, this is the sole reference to custom and self-build in the plan. As such, the opportunities for those wishing to build their own home might be limited, given that the only plots that the local plan will help to deliver will be those on large sites. Plots on large developments do not always suit the needs of prospective custom and self-builders, and consequently more choice should be offered, with smaller sites being facilitated too. It is concerning that no other mention of custom and self-build is made within the plan. Given the emphasis that the government wishes to place on custom and self-build it is considered crucial that housing policies within the emerging plan make reference to the fact that LPAs have a duty to meet the needs of those wishing to build their own homes. It is therefore considered appropriate that policy HOU2 should be adjusted in order to ensure that it is made clear that self-build is supported and actively encouraged to come forward through windfall sites. As such there is currently no provision within the plan to ensure that the needs of those wishing to build their own home are met, unless those prospective self-builders want a site on one of a handful of large sites expected to be brought forward during the plan period. The NPPF makes clear how small and medium sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an area. The identification and positive promotion of small and medium sites as per the NPPF paragraph 61 can be promoted in order to support the needs of custom and self-builders. North Norfolk DC should give serious consideration to a policy which encourages small and medium sites

Extract of Report of Representations

References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

**specifically to meet the needs of custom and self-builders**. At present NaCSBA are concerned that the emerging Local Plan does not meet the needs of those wishing to build their own home, does not meet the council's responsibilities in this regard and could not be considered sound at examination as a result. Conclusion The Local Plan does not support custom and self-build other than limited provision on a small number of large sites. Policy HOU2 should be altered to make clear that custom- and self-build proposals within the district are encouraged and will be supported in order to comply with the NPPF, the Housing & Planning Act and the Right to Build.

Extract of Report of Representations

0000 35	Norfolk Homes Ltd/Norfolk Land Ltd Presslee, Mr A	Issues and concerns were raised at the Council-run Viability Workshop (29 August 2018) about the basis and assumption by NCS (authors of the Plan Wide Viability Assessment, July 2018). Errors and omissions were identified but it is unclear if/how those have been addressed. Consequently, there must be question-marks about the conclusions drawn and therefore the basis of the - in particular – 35% affordable housing level proposed by the draft Plan in Affordable Housing Zone 2. It is evident that a substantial proportion of proposed allocations (notably in North Walsham and Fakenham) are in Affordable Housing Zone 1, meaning that proportionately lower affordable housing rates will be delivered, even from the large allocations proposed therein. We have - elsewhere through this consultation exercise – indicated that there should be a better distribution of proposed housing allocations, particularly within the Large Growth Towns and Small Growth Towns categories of the Settlement Hierarchy (including an additional allocation in Hoveton). This point is reinforced by the implications thereof – as proposed by the Draft Plan – insofar as affordable housing provision is concerned: some redistribution away from single large allocations in Zone 1 towards Zone 2 will result in an increased provision of affordable housing. The Housing Incentive Scheme introduced by the Council was both innovative and effective. It is our view that its 25% level of affordable housing – which proved so effective in securing early delivery of housing (both market and affordable) should be maintained in Zone 2 through the new Local Plan.	The council took on board comments made at the viability stakeholder event, a revised study informed the emerging policies and was republished alongside the draft plan consultation documents. Detailed feedback including the revised costings are included in the Interim consultation statement Appendix L. and the study is available in the Councils web site. Following the event, the study appraisals were subsequently re run with updated assumptions in relation to the suggestion of increased build costs along with a review of other inputs. The revised costs are based on independent data provided through BCIS as advised in the updated Planning Practice Guidance plus a percentage allowance for additional external costs. A further £10 sqm is added for category 2 Accessible and adaptable housing. Section 106 contributions were reviewed in light of the additional inclusion of costs for externals and in line with the updated and refinement of the policy requirements in the emerging allocations. A 17.5% developers profit is used, reflecting the reduced risk of building in North Norfolk as agreed at the meeting. The revised study also reflects the areas of higher value areas outside the main indicative zones. The affordable housing mix was reviewed to ensure it remains NPPF (July 2018) compliant and reflect the more realistic requirements of North Norfolk. The larger strategic typologies include a requirement for flats which are now based on the lower national space standard of 50 sq m for a 1 bed rather than a 2 bed. Sales values, fees, finance etc were not at this stage reviewed, given the iterative nature of plan making further work in refining values as well as costs will be undertaken at a stage to inform policy development. The study clearly identifies different affordable housing zones.
---------	--	---	---

Extract of Report of Representations

References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

			The distribution strategy and settlement hierarchy is based on comprehensive evidence considering a wide range of factors not just the need for affordable homes
	Trinity College Cambridge	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> The policy proposes a significantly reduced proportion of affordable housing in conjunction with residential	Support noted.
	Define Planning & Design Clifton, Ms Kirstie	developments compared to the current Core Strategy (adopted Policy HO 2 requiring 45% for developments of 10 dwellings or more), based upon their location within the District. Within Fakenham the policy proposes at least 15% affordable homes are provided. This is considered to be more representative of the viability of development in this location. As such, support this approach on the basis that all development will remain subject to the normal viability tests and, therefore, treated on a site-by-site basis.	The Council does not consider it appropriate to include the possibility of viability testing in the policy itself. Government advise is that such application based testing will rarely be justified unless there has been specific and demonstrable changes since Plan preparation.
Pac		In practice the policy may result in the viability of development being tested only in exceptional circumstances, however, <b>the residual potential need for a viability appraisal should remain explicit within this policy.</b>	

# Page 36

Extract of Report of Representations

References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

White Lodge **OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:** The Local Plan Agreed. (Norwich) Ltd acknowledges that affordability is an issue throughout the district. In order to address Lawson Planning this, Policy HOU2 (Housing Mix) seeks to ensure that small sites of 6-25 dwellings provide Rec. Amend the policy to bring it in line with NPPF Partnership either on-site or off-site contributions to affordable housing, dependent upon whether requirements making clear that site size thresholds of Oelman, Ms their provision exceeds 10 dwellings or not. HOU2 restricts mix and applies affordable below 10 dwellings will only be applied in Designated Kathryn housing requirement. Difficult to identify which zone the Former Nursery site lies. Rural Areas. (most of rural North Norfolk) Paragraph 9.26 of the draft local plan describes how, to date, it has only proved possible historically to achieve 18% affordable dwellings on new development sites. Paragraph Threshold site sizes and affordable requirements have 9.27 explains that 20% is a rate which is supported by the current evidence base. It is been tested for viability across the full range of site sizes therefore unclear how provision levels of 15-35% have been arrived at, and are thus and types included in the proposed strategy and whilst necessary or justified, other than the fact they are the maximum viable levels arrived at it remains possible that some sites may not be viable in the NCS Interim Plan Wide Viability Assessment. Paragraph 63 of the NPPF directs that the test required is to ensure that the strategy, when affordable housing should "only be sought on major developments of ten dwellings or taken as a whole, is deliverable. more". Central government's approach acknowledges that critical viability issues are commonly experienced on smaller sites. Their delivery is therefore encouraged by relaxation of the affordable housing requirements, as these sites make an important contribution to meeting the housing requirement of an area. HOU2 restricts flexibility in the mix to be provided on smaller sites. Restrictions in Policy SD3 are justified to meet paragraph 68 targets and ensure densities proposed reflect the rural character. However, we remain unclear as to how thoroughly the impact of these restrictions has been assessed: the NCS Viability Assessment does not specifically evaluate these constraints in combination. Thus, we are concerned that the approach adopted will not be an appropriate solution to meeting the identified affordable housing need in the District, as it will not encourage small sites to be brought forwards due to viability concerns in Small Growth Villages. We therefore raise objection to the housing mix requirements of Policy HOU2 regarding sites of 6-25 dwellings on the basis that it is not consistent with approach advocated in national policy, which would suggest that no forms of affordable housing should be sought on sites comprising 0-9 dwellings. Failure to address this inconsistency raises potential issues for the legality of the plan and its soundness. We also request that a separate viability assessment is commissioned to examine the policy interaction on small sites in Small Growth Villages, to ensure the plan is effective in meeting the identified affordable housing need on a District level.

Extract of Report of Representations

References to 'Officer Summary' indicate that lengthier submissions were made and have been summarised.

## **Representations from Individuals**

Who	Type of representation	Representation	Officer Comments and Recommendations
Addison Elaine	Object	I would urge NNDC to place a 45% obligation for affordable and social housing within this enormous development, along with a legally enforceable lock-in from the developers to deliver on this requirement.	The viability evidence indicates that affordable requirements of 45% would not be viable in most of the District.
Carr, Mrs Elizabeth	General Comments	There is a waiting list of about 3000 people on the housing list in the area I live. Although 'affordable' housing has been built recently some of the properties are still empty because they are not actually that 'affordable'. -More prominence and an active encouragement for self builds. People building their own homes are more likely to want to live in them and live in an area they like	Agreed. Rec.Add explicit support for self build in Policies SD2 and 3.
Woodward, Mrs Josephine	General Comments	Consideration needed for the types of houses for the retired, elderly and those with dementia. Needs to be a clear strategy for the delivery of low cost homes for the young and for those who will need to provide the care for themselves and others.	<b>Agreed</b> . This policy and Policy HOU8 are intended to require developers to construct a significantly greater number of homes and types of accommodation suitable for the elderly and those with particular care needs.

Extract of Report of Representations

Edwards,	Object	OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY. Policies	Agreed that an allocation of 80 dwellings
Mr John		HOU 2 and HOU 3 are not sufficiently sensitive to the special needs of Wells;	will not on its own address the affordable
		more closely aligned with Blakeney and other coastal villages along the North	housing needs of Wells and noted that the
		Norfolk Coast.	respondent does not object to the
		The attraction of this location, together with the nature of employment in	allocation. Policies SD 2 (Community led
		Wells, means that there is not enough affordable housing, particularly	developments) and HOU3 (Exception sites)
		affordable housing for rent. Local analysis suggest that the current demand	provide support for the delivery of
		for rented housing in Wells is higher than the total housing proposed through	affordable homes to address the needs of
		the Local Plan. Policy HOU 2 would only require 28 affordable dwellings to be built and this is entirely inadequate.	the community.
		As the target for 80 dwellings is not being challenged in this submission, the	
		housing policies for Wells need further refinement; they need to be more	
		aligned with HOU 3, or there needs to be a separate policy reflecting	
		recognition of the special circumstances in Wells [and any other settlement	
		similarly affected] if a market force outcome is to be avoided, and the	
		demand for local need met.	

Extract of Report of Representations

Swift, Mrs Julie	Object	Affordable homes now seems to relate to "Housing Association" homes only. There are a lot of young people in the area who are in work and do not qualify for (or want) a Housing Association home, but who want to buy a property themselves. As most smaller/cheaper homes are snapped up as holiday lets or second homes there are no properties that they can afford. Prices are artificially raised on properties they might be able to afford as they can be sold for holiday use. The Council must start imposing full time residency occupancy restrictions on cheaper properties to allow them to be purchased by local youngsters or elderly people whose incomes have reduced. They can do this as it states in section 9.4 (under Housing Policies).	Noted and partly agreed. The imposition of principle residence restrictions is unlikely to reduce the value of homes and render them affordable. Policy Hou2 includes a requirement that a proportion of affordable homes built are made available as low cost home ownership. The Planning White Paper reforms, if introduced, will require 20% of affordable homes to be provided as discounted first time buyer homes and

Extract of Report of Representations

Smith, Mr	General	OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY. Seems to	Noted. The issues raised are not matters for
Mark	Comments	be a positive approach to affordable housing although a larger percentage of	Local Plan policy. The Council will consider
		low cost home ownership could be beneficial in the long run as home	wider initiatives to support the delivery of
		ownership promotes more benefits for the occupiers and greater prosperity	affordable homes.
		in the future for younger residents. Such help from the council may include	
		low cost loans to assist with deposits. Maybe schemes such as Suffolk council	
		undertook where low cost home ownership was available with no deposit	
		and properties bought required completion of bathrooms, kitchens and	
		decorations so to reduce the selling price initially. The mortgage was	
		supplied by the council due to properties without working kitchens and	
		bathrooms not being mortgagable. There was a time frame that the required	
		work had to be completed by but basics would have been acceptable.	
Filby, Mr	Object	The policy identifies two affordable housing zones in the District; Roughton	Agreed.
Michael,		lies within Affordable Housing Zone 1, where the proposed provision is at	
Partridge,		least 15% affordable homes on schemes of 6-25 units. These zones relate to	Rec. Amend the Policy to make clear that
Mrs Lois		viability, and do not correlate with the boundary of the AONB. Paragraph 63	site size thresholds below 10 will only be
		of the NPPF states that: 'Provision of affordable housing should not be	applied in Designated Rural Areas.
		sought for residential developments that are not major developments, other	
		than in designated rural areas.' The Norfolk Coast AONB covers part, but not	
		all of the District. As drafted, Policy HOU 2 requires provision of affordable	
		housing on sites of 6-25 dwellings across the District, not just in the AONB.	
		This approach does not therefore comply with NPPF paragraph 63. Policy	
		HOU 2 should be amended to only require contributions to or provision of	
		affordable housing on schemes of 6 or more dwellings for sites in the AONB:	
		outside the AONB, the threshold should be 10 or more units, following the	
		definition of major development set out in the NPPF glossary.	

Extract of Report of Representations

Terrington, Mr Peter	Object	High demand for second homes, retirement homes and properties for holiday letting; the risk is that most new development homes will be acquired for these purposes, being beyond the means of the working population. I am very pleased that the Council has recognised this risk and has attempted to keep the new build allocation, for Wells, to a sustainable level, particularly if the affordable homes target of 35% can be achieved! The viability of this target of course will depend on the sale price of the land. You will recall that with the Hopkins Homes development, at Market Lane, although the developer adhered to the 40% affordable homes allocation, it was necessary to reduce the building code requirements to make the development viable. Due to the chronic shortage of affordable housing, in Wells, for local people, as highlighted in the most recent "Homes for Wells" Housing Needs survey, it is essential to specifically include an Exception Site, in the Local Plan for Wells.	Noted. Support for allocation and 35% affordables welcomed.
Hull, Mrs Alicia	Object	<b>OFFICER SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> Any housebuilding in future should be for rent at reasonable rates to provide homes for local people – a return to council housing.	<b>Noted.</b> The Policy aims to deliver a high proportion of affordable/social rented properties but also address the needs for low cost ownership.
Johnson, Mr & Mrs	Support	<b>OFFICER SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> Agree. In some areas provision of houses of a certain type / size will encourage second home owners. These types of property should have local occupancy rules to prevent lack of this type for local people.	<b>Not Agreed.</b> Second home occupancy restrictions applied to new homes are unlikely to be effective in controlling the numbers of second homes in the District as such restriction could only be applied to new homes and would increase the demand for such properties in the existing housing stock

Extract of Report of Representations

Rose, Mr	General	OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:	Agreed. The policy provides for mixed
Alan	Comments	Whenever groups of houses are built, consideration needs to be given for a	communities and includes specific
		mixed community of social housing. There also should be adaptations made	obligations to address the needs for
		to include those with physical/mental disabilities, not necessarily living	affordable and specialist accommodation
		together in the same place but being included within the community. The	
		Council could work with charitable organisations to possibly share the costs	
		for the build. Other living considerations should also be taken into account	
		such as fostering with families whose own children have flown the nest and	
		could have rents adjusted for the work they are doing with young children in	
		care. Looking at older people the same thing can be done for them - being	
		included in family situations but who are currently overlooked by the Local	
		Authority.	
		Provide: 1. Social housing 2. First time buyer/affordable housing 3.	
		Supported living in small community plots mixing young and old 4. Design	
		community living into the plans	
		We could take a close look at what's been done in places like Holland where	
		plans are made in a joined up way, thinking about long term health and care	
		needs. But if we don't have our say there's a risk that developers will just	
		squeeze in as many houses as they can as cheaply as possible.	
Mr Phillip	Object	Housing - Affordable – proposed Policy HOU2 The Affordable Housing Zones	Noted. Ensure Zones on Map reflect
Duncan		1 and 2 as identified in the Draft LP (page 122) are inconsistent with the	viability evidence.
		Zones shown in the NNDC Interim Plan Wide Viability Assessment (2018).	
		This brings into question the reliability of the background information and	
		translation into policy. This affects proposed Policy HOU2.	
Bates, Mr	General	OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: Need to	<b>Noted.</b> It is important (and a national policy
& Mrs Clive	Comments	make available affordable homes so young people can live in the village and	requirement) that the Plan address both
& Eileen		bring up their families, do we need more expensive properties so a % of	the need and demand for all types of
		them just become second homes as has occurred on another large	properties
		development in the village.	
Bluss, Mr	Object	OFFICER SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: A chronic	Agreed. The Council intends to set
Andrew		demand for a greater proportion of social housing and/or affordable homes	affordable housing requirements at the
		for first time buyers. Developers are only obliged to provide a small number	highest level which is viable. All needs, not
		of these type properties for those people requiring them. How is that to help	just those for affordable homes should be
		the residents of North Walsham who need that type of housing? Developers	addressed in the Plan.

Extract of Report of Representations

		want to make money. There is little appetite/profit margin for the mass building of social/affordable homes.	
Burke, Mr Stephen	Object	OFFICER SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: North Norfolk needs: • More affordable rented homes - at least half of the projected developments • More housing with care to enable our ageing population to continue living independently and with the support they need	<b>Agreed.</b> The policy requires the delivery of affordable homes and specialist accommodation. Policy HOU8 requires that homes built are suitable for lifetime occupancy.
Rice, Mr Colin	General Comments	OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: The plan should be responding to the increase in self-build housing, which provides a route for individuals to build their own home at a more affordable cost than market housing. Remarkably, other than requiring a few self-build sites within the specific Town and Village Proposals, there are no policies in the plan that actively encourage or support this route to home ownership. Whether officially 'market' or 'affordable' housing, self-build is likely to be a method that is actually affordable to those undertaking it, and deserves more recognition in the plan. Although the council's register of interest in self-build may not be currently large, there is large latent interest in self- build. A survey commissioned by the Building Societies Association (BSA), published in October 2011, and quoted in the House of Commons briefing attached, suggested that 53% of people in the UK would consider building their own home given the opportunity	Agreed. Rec Add further support for self-build in Policies SD2 and SD3 of the Plan
Hull, Mrs Alicia	General Comments	OFFICER SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: The pattern of out-of-town car dependent housing schemes, aimed largely for the wealthy and holiday houses and second home owners, with only a few so called 'affordable houses', has been destructive. It has added to pollution and congestion, got rid of green field sites, undermined village communities and made many locals homeless. Change to supporting rental accommodation at reasonable costs, built to minimum construction costs and minimum us of carbon for heating and cooking, and with all costs offset, so there is no overall carbon gain. Use widespread consultation and expert in formation to help devise the policy.	<b>Noted.</b> Meeting the housing needs of a growing population will require the development of edge of settlement sites. The policy aims to deliver the maximum amount of affordable housing that is viable. Energy efficient construction which reduces carbon emissions is required by Policy HOU11

Extract of Report of Representations

Drury, Mrs	General	I am dismayed at the number of additional homes within the plan. As stated	Noted. To comply with national policy the
Margaret	Comments	many of these will be taken by retirees into the district and will not be	Plan must address the demand for new
		affordable for those working locally. We need many more affordable homes,	homes including for those who wish to
		including homes at affordable rents, for local working people. I would agree	retire to the area.
		with imposing main residency conditions on all new developments.	
Hammond,	General	OFFICER SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: 3.13.	Not Agreed. It is accepted that local needs
R. Hon	Comments	Housing need is likely to change throughout the plan period and will vary at a	will vary over the Plan period. However it is
Robert		local level. The changing requirements for affordable housing, type and	important to establish specific
Harbord		tenure, optional standards, self and custom build, specialist elderly and care	requirements in the Policy to ensure
Ms Hannah		provision and other needs should be reflected in policy wording which is	developers have a clear view of planning
WSP Indigo		flexible and not too prescriptive.3.14. Support the policy. However, housing	requirements when purchasing sites. The
Payne		mix should be informed by local requirements and site specific market	policy already includes a wide degree of
(agent)		indicators as defined in NPPF paragraph 61.3.15. By setting specific	flexibility on types of accommodation which
		requirements at the time of writing, the policy wording proposed particularly	could be provided and comply with its
		Affordable Housing, Required Market Housing Mix and Required Affordable	requirements.
		Housing Mix is currently too restrictive. To ensure the Local Plan can	
		accommodate changes in housing requirements up until 2036, policy	
		wording should instead allow for developments to address future need,	
		identified at the time of an application.3.16. Similarly, other than for	
		affordable housing which is zoned, no flexibility is made within the policy to	
		allow for variance in local needs as a result of site specific	
		considerations.3.17. Some degree of flexibility is required to adapt to	
		changing needs over the plan period. To ensure development brings forward	
		the right kind of homes in the right places, policy wording should require	
		development to deliver a mix of housing which satisfies the most up to date	
		housing need assessment, rather than restricting development to the	
		composition table set out in the table.3.19. A similar approach should be	
		applied to 'specialist elderly / care provision'. Whilst the development plan	
		should prepare for an ageing population, a set requirement for sites which	
		can accommodate in excess of 151 units requiring a minimum 80 bed spaces	
		and further 40 bed spaces for each additional 150 dwellings thereafter is too	
		restrictive and inflexible to change. 3.18. As such, policy wording should	
		read:	
		"Unless the proposal is for a Rural Exceptions Scheme, Gypsy and Traveller	
		accommodation, or specialist(65) residential accommodation all new housing	

Extract of Report of Representations

Cuthbert, Mr Andrew	Object	developments, including those for the conversion of existing buildings, shall provide for a mix of house sizes and tenures in mix of different housing sizes and types, informed by the most up to date needs assessment or other robust evidence, as well as the Borough wide housing mix monitoring target in the table below or any local target set by a Neighbourhood Plan, taking into account site specific considerations." For a robust Local Plan, which can adapt to changes in need, the table in the policy should be removed, replaced with a broader policy which requires development to address specific housing need such as mix, optional standards and housing for older people according identified need at the time of an application.	Noted and agreed. The Council already has a policy of local occupancy controls for affordable housing in villages which gives priority to those with local connections
West, Dr Louisa	General Comments	ORFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: More detailed consideration needs to be considered to the needs of 'elderly' people and who is included in this description. Many men and women who have recently turned 60 will not receive their pension until 66/67 or a bus pass. Many will hopefully live possibly another 20/30 years and their requirements for homes and services may well change a few times during	<b>Agreed.</b> The final Plan should include further detail on specific needs and target groups following receipt of the Elderly persons Accommodation Needs Study

Extract of Report of Representations

		their remaining lifetimes. Many people 'retiring' are likely to move a few times and have different needs, after retiring. The proposals do not appear to recognise the diversity and changing needs of people of various ages.	
Drury, Mrs Margaret	General Comments	We need many more affordable homes, including homes at affordable rents, for local working people. I would agree with imposing main residency conditions on all new developments.	Partly agreed. The Plan aims to deliver the maximum amount of affordable homes that are viable and includes a very flexible rural exception policy (HOU3) to assist with the delivery of affordable homes. Principle residence restrictions are unlikely to be affective (See report)
Green, Mr Stephen	General Comments	<b>OFFICERS SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY:</b> The plan anticipates up to 10,000 new homes over twenty years, of which about 2,000 should be affordable. This is quite wrong. If we need 10,000 new homes then 10,000 of them should be affordable. They should be built by housing associations, local authorities or developers, all of which should be on a not- for-profit basis. We don't need any more large houses which local people cannot afford, we need houses which local people can afford, over which local people should have priority allocation, and which should be a mixture of sale, mixed rent/mortgage, and rent. They should only be available to people who live or work in the District and have done so for a specified number of years, perhaps 2, and all the houses should have irrevocable clauses in them which maintain that residence condition for a specified number of years, at least 20. (Some exceptions should be allowable, for example some houses should always be available for refugees, and for people escaping from domestic violence).	There is a need for all types of homes to address the needs of a growing population. National guidance requires that Local Plans address all needs not just those for affordable homes

Extract of Report of Representations

Members	General	OFFICER SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: This policy	Agreed. Draft policy lacks clarity.	
for North	Comments	is of great relevance to us as it will dictate the level of social, rented housing		
Walsham		and low cost market housing available to our constituents. North Walsham is	Rec To be made at the meeting following	
Gay, Cllr		located within Affordable Housing Zone 1. This means that on any site of	further discussion with Housing Enabling	
Virginia		more than six houses our requirement for on site provision of affordable	Team	
		homes is a minimum of 15%. We are not convinced that this target is high		
		enough to meet the housing need within our town. We would instead favour		
		a target of 30%. We are concerned too that provision for Low Cost Home		
		Ownership must reflect actual levels of income within North Norfolk rather		
		than levels of average income for England as a whole. We would hope to see		
		a higher target for affordable homes and careful oversight of the provision		
		for Low Cost Home Ownership. Special concern to us as it expresses North		
		Norfolk District's Council's requirement for affordable housing on larger sites		
		and we have doubted whether this policy truly takes account of the level of		
		our need for social rented housing.		
Dixon, Cllr	General	OFFICER SUMMARY – SEE ATTACHED FILE FOR FULL SUMMARY: Provide	Agreed. Policy needs to allow for a mix of	
Nigel	Comments	more shared equity affordable homes across the District either through	tenures.	
		schemes with Housing Associations or through a NNDC funded scheme.	Rec To be made at the meeting following	
			further discussion with Housing Enabling	
			Team	
	Number	Summary of Responses from Individuals (Policy HOU2)		
	Received			

Extract of Report of Representations

Summary of Objections	10	Objections comment on the shortage of affordable housing in the District and the need to build more in the new plan. A number of comments focused around the need for houses for first time buyers some preferring an increase in low cost home ownership models, rather than housing associations while other supported more rented properties. The requirement for affordable housing percentage was supported but some challenged that it was too low. Others suggested that the zonal approach was not supported by the Council's viability study and lower percentage should be required in the identified zones away from the coast. Affordable housing thresholds were also challenged in that a higher threshold in line with national policy should be applied outside the AONB. More housing with care is needed to enable the ageing population to continue living independently with the support they need. Specific issues raised about Wells-next-the-Sea, although the overall number of homes was not challenged it was thought the application 35% affordable housing would not address local need. No need for large houses and housing should be available to people who live or work in the District. The Affordable Housing Zones 1 and 2 as identified in the Draft LP (page 122) are inconsistent with the Zones shown in the NNDC Interim Plan Wide Viability Assessment(2018). One representations comments that the approach doesn't comply with the NPPF Para 63 and should be amended to only require contributions to or provision of affordable housing on schemes of 6 or more dwellings for sites in the AONB, outside the AONB, the threshold should be 10 or more units, following the definition of major development set out in the NPPF glossary.
Summary of Support	1	Although there was limited direct support there was indirect support contained in comments for the policy approach in that it recognises the need to address affordable housing, ensure appropriate type and size of homes are sought and that the proposed policy recognises the need for elderly accommodation.
Summary of General Comments	14	General comments mainly focused on the preference for more affordable housing at a price and tenure that suits local need and for homes for the elderly and people with dementia that could be adaptable. Some support for self build but not tied to the settlement hierarchy. mixed opinions were given on tenure, with some favouring low cost home ownership products to get onto the housing mkt while others thought more rented / social prices should be delivered. Generally considered that the provision for Low Cost Home Ownership must reflect actual levels of income within North Norfolk rather than levels of average income for England as a whole. Others commented that the policy was too restrictive and prescriptive and not flexible enough to respond to the changing needs over the plan period
Overall Summary		Most comments raised concern about the shortage of affordable housing within the District and the need to encourage more, <b>at a price and tenure that addresses local need with the</b> provision for Low Cost Home Ownership reflecting actual levels of income within North Norfolk rather than levels of average income for England as a whole. Generally there is support for a higher affordable percentage being required. Concerns around the perceived impacts of second homes on the price of homes was a common theme. Support was also implied for more elderly accommodation and adaptable homes however there were others that said the approach was too restrictive and not reflective enough to local circumstances and challenged the evidence base on viability zones and the lowering of the affordability threshold outside the AONB.

Extract of Report of Representations

Council's	Noted: agree, disagree (partly) - Consider comments in the development the policy. Affordable housing need is identified in
Response	the Strategic Housing Market Assessment and evidence shows a clear need for rented properties and two /three
	bedroomed properties which the policy advocates . The Council consider that affordable homes should be genuinely
	affordable reflecting the local economy and support for price controls in accordance with local income is however also
	welcomed. The policy is designed to deliver the identified strategic needs of the District while Other policies in the plan
	actively support the provision of rural exception sites and affordable housing provision through the delivery of sites to
	address additional identified local need in neighbourhood plans and through community land trusts brought about through
	community planning powers. Policies HOU8 & 9 focus on the requirement for minimum space standards and accessible and
	adaptable properties. The Council supports self building in accordance to sustainable distribution principle. The viability
	zones reflect the conclusions of the Plan wide viability study and market values/development costs across the district and
	the approach across the distribution and allocations meets the identified need for affordable housing . Affordable Housing
	thresholds reflect the rural area designation of north Norfolk under the s.157 Housing Act 1985.

## Appendix 2

Extract of Policy HOU 2, First Draft Local Plan (Regulation 18), May 2019.

### **Policy HOU 2**

#### **Housing Mix**

Unless the proposal is for a Rural Exceptions Scheme, Gypsy and Traveller accommodation, or specialist<sup>(65)</sup> residential accommodation all new housing developments, including those for the conversion of existing buildings, shall provide for a mix of house sizes and tenures in accordance with the following:

Size of Scheme (Dwellings)	% Affordable Homes Required		Required Market Housing Mix	Required Affordable Housing Mix <sup>(1)</sup>	Number of Serviced Self-Build Plots <sup>(2)</sup>	Specialist Elderly / Care Provision
	Affordable Zone 1*	Affordable Zone 2*				
0-5	No requirement	No requirement	No requirement	No requirement	No requirement	No requirement
6-25	At least 15%. Option of financial contribution on schemes of 6-10 dwellings	At least 35%. Option of financial contribution on schemes of 6-10 dwellings	Not less than 50% two or three bedroom properties	Not more than 10% Low Cost Home Ownership, remainder Rented.	No requirement	No requirement
26-150	At least 15% on site provision	At least 35% on site provision	Not less than 50% two or three bedroom properties	Not more than 10% Low Cost Home Ownership, remainder Rented.	At least one plot or 2% of total number of units, whichever is greater	No requirement
151-300 (plus each additional 150 dwellings).	At least 15% on site provision	At least 35% on site provision	Not less than 50% two or three bedroom properties	Not more than 10% Low Cost Home Ownership, remainder Rented.	At least one plot or 2% of total number of units, whichever is greater	Minimum 80 bed spaces and further 40 bed spaces for each additional 150 dwellings thereafter

1. Size and tenure split determined on case by case basis in accordance with local needs evidence

2. A plot of land of agreed dimensions which is serviced and made available for self-build housing on terms to be agreed with the LPA for a period of not less than two years from the date of its availability.

\* See Figure 6 'Affordable Housing Zones'.

This page is intentionally left blank